#### S255826

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

V.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,

Respondent.

BRYAN MAURICE JONES

Real Party in Interest.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appeal from the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D074028 Superior Court of San Diego County, Case No. CR136371 The Honorable Joan P. Weber, Judge of the Superior Court

SUMMER STEPHAN
District Attorney
MARK A. AMADOR
Deputy District Attorney
Chief, Appellate & Training Division
SAMANTHA BEGOVICH, SBN 172225
Deputy District Attorney
330 W. Broadway, Suite 860
San Diego, CA 92101
Tel.: (619) 531-4457
Fax: (619) 515-8632

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Did the Court of Appeal violate Civil Code of Procedure section 2018.030, Penal Code section 1054.9, and federal and state attorney core work product privilege cases by affirming the trial court's order the prosecutor's jury selection notes be disclosed to real party in interest at the third stage of a *Batson/Wheeler* <sup>3</sup> review?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal err by concluding that a lawyer waives core work product privilege when, during a three stage Batson review, mere comments by a lawyer that the lawyer's contemporaneously made jury selection notes were consistent with the lawyer's stated reasons for exercising peremptory challenges of prospective jurors?

#### **REASONS FOR REVIEW**

This petition for review presents a question of first impression between the application of a lawyer's core work product privilege under Civil Code of Procedure section 2018.030, and Penal Code section 1054.9, and a defendant's right to a jury selected in a manner free from discrimination.

The Court of Appeal, in a departure from stare decisis, made new law by deeming a lawyer responding to a Batson/Wheeler challenge a witness and then declaring a lawyer's reliance on his notes to guide his arguments both a waiver of core work product and evidence used to refresh a witness's recollection pursuant to Evidence Code section 771. (*Jones*, *supra*, 245 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 795.)

Here, Bryan Maurice Jones (hereafter "defendant" or "real party") sought postconviction discovery of the prosecution's jury selection notes,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258.

within the context of the prosecution of his postconviction discovery litigation, to assist in filing his petition for writ of habeas corpus now pending before the California Supreme Court.<sup>4</sup>

Petitioner asserted that such notes are core work product (Gov. Code, § 6254, subd. (k); Civ. Code, § 2018.030, subd. (a)) and privileged from disclosure. Petitioner also noted that defendant's assertion of violations of *Batson v. Kentucky*, *supra*, 476 U.S. 79, and *People v. Wheeler*, *supra*, 22 Cal. 3d 258 were addressed at length in his direct appeal, and in 2013 this court affirmed the trial court's decision not to find a prima facie case of group bias against the People. (*People v. Jones* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 899, 916–920.)

During the April 2018 hearing on the postconviction discovery issue, the trial court ordered petitioner to produce the prosecutor's jury selection notes and documents to defendant in light of his intent to pursue a petition for writ of habeas corpus, despite this court's 2013 decision. (Exh. B<sup>5</sup> at pp. 47-48 [Transcript of Postconviction Discovery Hearing on April 27, 2018]; Exh. D at p. 18 [People's Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Discovery and Preservation of Evidence].) <sup>6</sup>

In making that order, the trial court concluded *Foster v. Chatman* (2016) U.S.\_\_ [136 S.Ct. 1737] (*Foster*) held that a defendant's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In re Bryan Maurice Jones On Habeas Corpus, In the Supreme Court of the State of California, Capital Case No. S217284.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Exhibits referenced in this petition for review are the exhibits that were attached to the People's writ filed in the Court of Appeal and should be contained in the records this court will request from the Court of Appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> All references to the Exhibits are to the exhibits attached to Petitioner's Writ Petition filed in the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Constitutional rights to access such documents supersedes the petitioner's core work product privilege, that a prosecutor's verbal reference to the notes when arguing the peremptory challenge to prospective jurors was warranted rendered the privilege waived, and that disclosure of jury selection notes is contemplated within postconviction discovery. (Exh. B at p. 48.)

Under California Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subdivision (b)(1), this court should grant review to secure uniformity of decision and settle an important question of law whether a trial court has authority to compel a lawyer's disclosure of jury selection notes that are core work product under Civil Code of Procedure section 2018.030, and Penal Code section 1054.9. This case presents an issue of first impression. There is no published case to provide guidance to trial courts whether the holding in *Foster* requires disclosure of attorney core work product in the context of a *Batson/Wheeler* claim. Nor is there case law holding that a prosecutor's review of jury selection notes thereby waives any applicable privileges over those notes. And yet that is exactly what the trial court did here, in contravention of the attorney core work product privilege.

#### PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Petitioner is the People of the State of California ("the People") represented by its counsel, San Diego County District Attorney Summer Stephan, and Samantha Begovich, Deputy District Attorney. Respondent is the Superior Court of the State of California, for the County of San Diego,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The issue at hand has been recently presented to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Divisions Two and Three. (*Albert Jones v. Superior Court* (January 16, 2018, E067896) [nonpub. opn.] pp. 2-3; *Salas v. Superior Court* (March 3, 2018, G055165) [petition summarily denied, review den., May 11, 2018, S247515].) Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.1115, subd. (a), this unpublished opinion is not cited for its legal conclusions, but rather to inform this court that this legal issue has presented itself elsewhere in California.

Central Division ("superior court"). Real Party is Bryan M. Jones, defendant in San Diego County Superior Court case number CR136371, a felony criminal action.

Defendant Bryan Maurice Jones was convicted in 1994 of the first-degree murders of JoAnn Sweets and Sophia Glover (§§ 187, 189), attempting to murder Maria R. and Karen M. (§§ 664, 187), and committing forcible rape, sodomy and oral copulation against Karen M. (§§ 261, subd. (a)(2), 286, subd. (c) & 288a, subd. (c)). The jury further sustained an allegation that defendant used a deadly weapon when attempting to murder Maria R. (§ 12022, subd. (b).) Finally, the jury sustained three special circumstance allegations rendering defendant eligible for the death penalty: that he murdered both Sweets and Glover during the commission or attempted commission of the crime of sodomy (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(17)) and that he committed multiple murders (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(3)).

On April 6, 1994, following a penalty trial, the jury set the punishment at death under the 1978 death penalty law. (§ 190.1 et seq.) Jones' appeal was automatic, and the judgment was affirmed in all respects. (*People v. Jones, supra*, 57 Cal.4th 899.)

This petition for review arises from an April 27, 2018 hearing before the Honorable Joan P. Weber to litigate issues of postconviction discovery and orders arising therefrom pursuant to Penal Code section 1054.9. (Exh. A [The Honorable Joan P. Weber's Court Order]; Exh. B at pp. 41–43.)

Defendant, represented by the Habeas Corpus Resource Center, sought postconviction discovery of the prosecutor's jury selection notes taken and policy memoranda on jury selection used at the time of his trial. (Exh. C at pp. 10–11 [Reply in Support of Defendant's Initial Motion for Postconviction Discovery].)

Petitioner asserted that such notes are core work product (Gov. Code, § 6254, subd. (k); Civ. Code, § 2018.030, subd. (a)) and privileged from disclosure. Petitioner also noted that defendant's assertion of violations of *Batson* and *Wheeler* were addressed at length in his direct appeal, and the appellate court affirmed the trial court's decision not to find a prima facie case of group bias against the People. (*People v. Jones* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 899, 916–920; Exh. D at p. 18.) The superior court granted defendant's section 1054.9 motion to discover the trial prosecutor's jury selection notes. (Exh. B at pp. 41–43.)

The People petitioned for a writ of mandate and/or prohibition pursuant to the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure sections 1086 and 1103 because there was no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law.<sup>8</sup> On June 21, 2018, the Court of Appeal summarily denied the petition for writ of mandate after considering the petition and an informal opposition filed by real party.

The People appealed, and this court granted the petition for review and transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal.

On April 9, 2019, the Court of Appeal denied the petition for writ of mandate and issued a published opinion.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING DISCOVERY PURSUANT TO SECTION 1054.9 BECAUSE CALIFORNIA AND FEDERAL LAW PROTECT PRIVILEGED ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT

On Friday, April 27, 2018, the trial court held a hearing to address real party's motion for discovery. (Exh. B at p. 7.) With regard to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Mandamus is the proper procedure to challenge a superior court's order regarding a discovery motion. (*In re Steele, supra*, 32 Cal.4th 682, 688; see *Kennedy v. Superior Court* (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 359, 363.)

prosecution's jury notes, the trial court specifically stated, "I think *Foster* versus *Chapman* is a game changer in this area." (Exh. B at p. 46.) The trial court further stated that because *Foster* held that prosecutor notes can be enlightening as to whether there was a racial bias, she was making a tentative ruling in favor of disclosure. (Exh. B at p. 46.) Petitioner objected, asserting the core work product privilege and stating that the *Batson* issue had already been addressed in a prior appeal. (Exh. B at p. 46.) Real Party responded that their reply discussing the core work product and Evidence Code section 771 sufficiently stated their position. (Exh. B at p. 47.) The trial court noted that it agreed with the Real Party's reasoning. (Exh. B at p. 47.) Petitioner objected, stating that simply because an attorney referenced his notes during an argument, it was not a waiver of privilege. (Exh B at p. 47.) The trial court stated:

But in my view, if there are specific notes taken by that attorney that could possibly impeach what he said on the record – and that's exactly what happened in the *Foster* case. I mean, the prosecutor's notes showed that he was not being honest with the Court in terms of why. And I'm not saying that's at all going to be the facts with Mr. Dusek. But how can counsel ever investigate whether there was a legitimate *Batson* with regard to the exercise of challenges against minority jurors unless she has access to that material? So I think she's entitled to it under *Foster* versus *Chapman*, which I think indicates that – that these material can be relevant. (Exh. B at p. 48.)

The trial court then ordered the disclosure with a protective order. (Exh. B at p. 48.)

Despite the trial court's rationale in ordering disclosure of the prosecutor's jury selection notes, petitioner has found no California law that recognizes the right to discovery of an attorney's jury selection notes during a *Batson* hearing, or waives the statutory core work product privilege upon an attorney's reliance on his work product. Nor has

petitioner found California law that mandates disclosure of these notes in the postconviction discovery context. By ordering postconviction disclosure of the prosecution's jury notes to the real party, the trial court erred.

#### A. Foster v. Chatman Does Not Require Disclosure of Records Protected By the Attorney Core Work Product Privileged During a Batson Hearing

The Court of Appeal wrongly relied on *Foster* as the basis for the propriety of the trial court's order requiring disclosure of the prosecution's jury selection documents within the context of defendant's section 1054.9 request, over the People's objection. Despite the Court of Appeal's conclusion, *Foster* does not stand for the proposition that a prosecution claim of core work product privilege is overruled upon a defendant's assertion of *Batson* error. The following in-depth analysis of *Foster* shows what *Foster* did and did not hold, supporting that the court's decision was made in error.

As an initial matter, *Foster* in no way involved whether or not a prosecutor's claim of privilege on jury selection documents is meaningless in the adjudication of *Batson* violations. Rather, the Supreme Court's decision in *Foster* hinged on several apparent misrepresentations made by the prosecution, established in the record by the prosecution's jury selection file, which had a focus on race and was obtained through the State of Georgia's Open Records statutes. (*Foster v. Chapman, supra*, 136 S.Ct. at pp. 1743–44.)

In Foster, defendant Timothy Foster claimed that the prosecution used peremptory challenges to strike all four black prospective jurors qualified to serve on the jury in his trial for capital murder, in violation of Batson. (Foster v. Chapman, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 1742.) The trial court denied his claim, and the Georgia Supreme Court affirmed. (Ibid.) Foster renewed his Batson claim in a state habeas proceeding. (Ibid.) The state

habeas court considered the prosecution's jury selection file but denied relief. (*Id.* at p. 1745.) The Georgia Supreme Court likewise denied relief, concluding that Foster's *Batson* claim was without merit because he had failed to demonstrate purposeful discrimination. (*Id.* at p. 1745.) The Supreme Court granted certiorari. (*Ibid.*)

Foster obtained copies of the file used by the prosecution during his trial through the Georgia Open Records Act. (Foster v. Chapman, supra, 136 S.Ct. at pp. 1743–44.) The prosecution's jury selection file was replete with documents referencing race, including: (1) copies of the jury venire list on which the names of each black prospective juror were highlighted in green, with a legend indicating that the green highlighting "represents Blacks"; (2) a draft of an affidavit prepared by an investigator at the request of the prosecutor, comparing black prospective jurors and concluding, "If it comes down to having to pick one of the black jurors, [this one] might be okay"; (3) handwritten notes identifying three black prospective jurors as "B# 1," "B# 2," and "B # 3"; (4) a typed list of qualified jurors with "N" appearing next to the names of all five black prospective jurors; (5) a handwritten document titled "definite NO's" listing six names, including the names of all five qualified black prospective jurors; (6) handwritten document titled "Church of Christ" with notation that read: "NO. No Black Church"; and (7) the questionnaires filled out by several of the prospective black jurors, on which each juror's response indicating his or her race had been circled. (*Id.* at p. 1744.)

The Supreme Court reemphasized the principle that "the Constitution forbids striking even a single prospective juror for a discriminatory purpose." (Foster v. Chapman, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 1747.) The Supreme Court also reaffirmed the well settled, three-part process established in Batson for determining when a strike is discriminatory: First, a defendant must make a prima facie showing that a peremptory challenge

has been exercised on the basis of race; second, if that showing has been made, the prosecution must offer a race-neutral basis for striking the juror in question; and third, in light of the parties' submissions, the trial court must determine whether the defendant has shown purposeful discrimination. (*Ibid.*)

Despite uncertainty about who within the prosecutor's office wrote the notes obtained by Foster, the Supreme Court relied upon their existence. (Foster v. Chapman, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 1748.) The Supreme Court "made it clear that in considering a Batson objection, or in reviewing a ruling claimed to be Batson error, all of the circumstances that bear upon the issue of racial animosity must be consulted." (Ibid.) "[D]etermining whether invidious discriminatory purpose was a motivating factor demands a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial evidence of intent as may be available." (Ibid.)

The Supreme Court asserted that the contents of the prosecution's file plainly belied the State's claim that it had exercised its strikes in a "color-blind" manner. (*Ibid.*) The Supreme Court described the number of references to race in the prosecution's file as "arresting." (*Ibid.*) The Supreme Court held that "the focus on race in the prosecution's file plainly demonstrat[ed] a concerted effort to keep black prospective jurors off the jury." (*Ibid.*)

Foster also noted that the jury selection documents were admitted into evidence and considered in the *Batson* analysis "[o]ver the State's objections" and that the State was "downright indignant" in the use of the jury selection notes and the ensuing inferences and conclusions reached. (*Id.* at pp. 1743–1744, 1755.) Yet, *Foster* did not address how a trial court should rule based on such objections from the prosecution.

The Supreme Court concluded that the "prosecutors were motivated in substantial part by race[.]" (*Ibid.*) The court reversed the judgment and

remanded the case for further proceedings because "[t]wo peremptory strikes on the basis of race are two more than the Constitution allows." (*Ibid.*)

Foster simply contains no discussion by the Court of what weight should be given to the prosecution's claim of privilege over jury selection notes and records. There is no holding that a trial court must summarily dismiss the prosecution's claim that its notes during the jury selection process are privileged.

This is especially true where *Foster* obtained the prosecution's jury selection notes through Georgia's Open Records Act, in essence, by consent. Nowhere in *Foster* did the Supreme Court imply—let alone clearly establish—that a state court is mandated or has a sua sponte duty to overrule the prosecution's assertion of core work product privilege over jury selection notes when a defendant asserts a claim of *Batson* error.

Foster is also devoid of any discussion concerning whether or not the core work product privilege is waived as to jury selection notes if a prosecutor relies on those notes to respond to a claim of Batson error. Thus, the court of appeal's conclusion that the prosecutor became a witness upon responding to the trial court's finding of a prima facie case of racial animus thus making the notes in question subject to disclosure as items used to refresh his collection is neither stated or suggested by Foster as to render the appellate court's conclusion speculative and implicitly erroneous.

Presumably *Foster* could have expanded its Equal Protection Clause guarantees by holding that in *Batson* inquiries the defendant's right to know the prosecutor's thought processes supersede any core work product privileges. *Foster* did not reach such a conclusion and, as such, the Court of Appeal's decision to the contrary is in error.

The Court of Appeal also failed to acknowledge that several limiting phrases emanate from the jurisprudence on the litigation of *Batson* error, as

addressed below, and failed to reconcile these phrases with the Court of Appeal's broad, sweeping opinion.

### B. "Circumstantial and Direct Evidence of Intent as May be Available"

Petitioner recognizes that *Foster*, "'demands a sensitive inquiry into such . . . circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available' " in order to determine whether invidious discriminatory purpose was a motivating factor. (*Foster*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 1748, quoting *Arlington Heights v. Metro. Hous. Dev. Corp.* (1977) 429 U.S. 252, 266 (*Arlington Heights*).)

However, jury selection notes are not "available," because they are privileged work product documents. *Foster's* desire for available "evidence of intent" does not expressly or impliedly mean *all* evidence. (*Foster*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 1748.) With an apparent appreciation for the proverbial slippery slope<sup>9</sup> that may ensue from the abrogation of work product privilege, no court has codified the discoverability of jury selection notes.

#### C. "Entire Record"

During the final stage of a *Batson/Wheeler* analysis, courts must consider "'"all relevant circumstances"'" in determining whether a strike was improperly motivated, and this requires a careful "review of the entire record." (*People v. Lenix* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 602, 616 (*Lenix*); see *Arlington Heights*, *supra*, 429 U.S. at p. 266; Answer, p. 16.)

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