### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

The People of the State of California.

Petitioner,

v.

The Superior Court of San Diego County,

Respondent,

Bryan Maurice Jones,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S255826

### **CAPITAL CASE**

Appeal from the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D074028

(Related to California Supreme Court Case No. S042346 [on direct appeal]; No. S217284 [on habeas corpus])

San Diego Superior Court Case No. CR136371, The Honorable Joan P. Weber

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shelley J. Sandusky (Bar No. 155857)

Cliona Plunkett (Bar No. 256648)

Rachel G. Schaefer (Bar No. 298354)

Joseph Crumbley (Bar No. 322346)

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

### **ARGUMENT**

## I. PETITIONER FAILS TO IDENTIFY APPROPRIATE GROUNDS FOR REVIEW.

This Court's rules limit the types of cases that are appropriate for review. Where, as here, a petitioner requests review based on the merits of the lower court's ruling,<sup>5</sup> this Court limits review to instances where it is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." This rule allows the Court to exercise its jurisdiction when necessary to "supervise and control the opinions of several District Courts of Appeal," while allowing novel issues and matters of first impression to percolate through and be resolved by the lower courts.

<sup>(</sup>citing *People v. Winbush*, 2 Cal. 5th 402, 434 (2017); *People v. Gutierrez*, 2 Cal. 5th 1150, 1158 (2017)).

Other rationales for granting review, including that the Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction or "lacked the concurrence of sufficient qualified justices," do not implicate the merits of the Court of Appeal's decision here and are not at issue in petitioner's instant petition. *See* California Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(2), (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1); see also Vergara v. State, 246 Cal. App. 4th 619, 209 Cal. Rptr. 3d 532, 568 (2016) (Cuéllar, J., dissenting from denial of review) (noting importance of granting review to ensure uniformity of reasoned decisions from the Court of Appeal).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> People v. Davis, 147 Cal. 346, 348 (1905).

Petitioner's arguments fail to support the applicability of any of this Court's rationales for granting review of the Court of Appeal's decision below. To the contrary, the Petition makes clear that there is no need for this Court to review the Court of Appeal's decision in order to secure uniformity or settle an important question amongst the lower courts that have examined the issue of the discoverability of a prosecutor's jury selection notes.<sup>8</sup> Petitioner cites two unpublished Court of Appeal decisions – one a summary denial of a writ petition,<sup>9</sup> and the other *affirming* the trial court's *granting* of a request for discovery of the prosecution's jury selection notes.<sup>10</sup> The mere

The United States Supreme Court uses a similar rule to determine whether a grant of certiorari is appropriate. Sup. Ct. R. 10(a). Under this rule, it is not enough that the question presented has been considered and ruled upon by other courts – there must be a split of authority amongst courts in resolving the question. E.g., Maryland v. King, 567 U.S. 1301, 133 S. Ct. 1, 3 (2012) (noting likelihood court will grant certiorari given split amongst lower courts); see also City & Cty. San Francisco, Calif. v. Sheehan, \_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 135 S. Ct. 1765, 1779 (2015) (noting petitioner likely included argument concerning split amongst circuits to induce court to grant certiorari). Petitioner here has not demonstrated any disagreement amongst Courts of Appeal that have examined the question of the discoverability of the prosecution's jury selection notes (nor even amongst the Court of Appeal panel that decided this case and the panels that generated the unpublished opinions petitioner cites). Correspondingly, Petitioner has not demonstrated the need for intervention by this Court to settle any questions of law or ensure uniformity.

Salas v. Super. Ct. (Mar. 3, 2018, G055165) [nonpub. opn.]. Since this was a summary denial of a petition for writ of mandate, it is not clear on what grounds the petition was denied. See Kowis v. Howard, 3 Cal. 4th 888, 895-99 (1992) (rejecting efforts to glean grounds for summary denial). However, the Court of Appeal's denial order, in which one concurring justice noted that the prosecution should preserve its jury selection notes for future litigation, at least contemplates that jury selection notes are potentially discoverable in that case. In light of this concurrence and the summary nature of the court's decision, petitioner cannot in good faith argue that this case demonstrates a split in the courts of appeal on this issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Jones v. Super. Ct.* (Jan. 16, 2018, No. E067896) [nonpub. opn.]. Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.1115(a), Mr. Jones cites to *Salas* 

fact that the question of jury selection note discovery "has presented itself elsewhere in California," Petition at 4 n.7,<sup>11</sup> does not demonstrate the need for intervention by this Court. Neither case cited by petitioner created precedent – both decisions are unpublished and may not be cited to or relied upon by another court in granting or denying a discovery request. <sup>12</sup> The only published and therefore citable case evaluating the application of state discovery principles to a postconviction request for jury selection notes is the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. Furthermore, of the two unpublished cases cited by Petitioner, the sole reasoned decision is consistent with the *Jones* decision and affirms that discovery of the prosecutor's jury selection notes is appropriate in particular cases. <sup>13</sup> Thus, there is no lack of uniformity or concomitant need for this Court to intervene.

Instead, Petitioner (although mis-citing to this Court's rules describing the need to secure uniformity) argues that the Court of Appeal's decision should be reviewed by this Court because it "presents an issue of first

and this unpublished opinion only for purposes of responding to Petitioner's arguments.

Although petitioner's use of Roman followed by Arabic numerals in the pagination of its Petition does not comply with this Court's rules requiring consecutive and Arabic-numeral-only pagination, *see* California Rules of Court, rule 8.74 (3); Supreme Court Rules Regarding Electronic Filing, rule 10(2), in this brief, to avoid confusion, Mr. Jones cites to the page numbers that appear in the footer of petitioner's pleading.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> California Rules of Court, rule 8.1115(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Jones, No. E067896 (Jan. 16, 2018). Petitioner further claims "Jones is at odds with virtually every case that has failed to require that a prosecutor's jury selection notes in the context of a Batson/Wheeler challenge are discoverable." Request at 3. Though petitioner's counsel, through this language, invokes a host of additional cases supporting her position, she fails to cite a single reasoned decision holding that all or even any particular discovery requests for a prosecutor's jury selection notes must be rejected.

impression." Petition at 4. The fact that the lower court's decision extends established state and federal law to a novel circumstance, however, does not meet this Court's exacting standard for granting a petition for review. If the application of existing precedent to new questions or circumstances were sufficient to trigger this Court's discretionary review in every instance, the Court would be taxed to examine every single non-res-judicata-barred decision rendered by every Court of Appeal in California. This Court's precedents, for good reason, do not require as much, and petitioner's over-reaching effort to invoke this Court's jurisdiction should be denied.

# II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETION TO ORDER DISCOVERY OF JURY SELECTION NOTES.

The Court of Appeal's opinion recognized the constitutional imperative to ferret out invidious discrimination in the jury selection process. In deference to this imperative, the Court of Appeal, after considering the applicability of the statutorily-created work product rule, held that: 1) jury selection notes containing the prosecutor's observations and thoughts concerning prospective jurors are not core work product; 2) to the extent that such notes benefit from any statutory protection limiting their disclosure, that protection must yield where non-disclosure would frustrate efforts to identify and preclude or ameliorate instances of unconstitutional invidious discrimination; and 3) even assuming such notes include some attorney thoughts and impressions that meet the definition of core work product – and also assuming that the prosecution's interest in non-disclosure of this material is not overridden by defendant's, the Court's, and society's interest in thwarting the exercise of invidious discrimination during jury selection – the prosecution in this case waived any statutory protection when he referred to the contents of the notes in the course of the *Batson* hearing.

At step three of a trial court's *Batson* analysis (after the defendant has established a prima facie case of discrimination),<sup>14</sup> the trial court may determine that jury selection notes are one relevant source of information it should consider to determine the actual reasons for the prosecutor's strikes.<sup>15</sup> Where the trial court finds that the notes are relevant to its step-three determination, the notes must be disclosed to the defendant.<sup>16</sup> Each of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Petitioner argues that this Court on direct appeal "affirmed the trial court's decision not to find a prima facie case of group bias." Petition at 3 (citing *People v. Jones*, 57 Cal. 4th 899, 916-20 (2013)). This assertion blatantly mischaracterizes the record. As noted by this Court on direct appeal, "[t]he trial court found defendant had made a prima facie showing of group bias." *Jones*, 57 Cal. 4th at 917; *see also id.* ("Here no dispute exists that defendant made a prima facie case with regard to jurors Y.J. and C.G.").

Mr. Jones access to materials beyond the narrow scope of post-conviction discovery permitted by statute and this Court's decisions, the Court of Appeal specifically found that "the trial court necessarily concluded Jones met his burden of demonstrating he was entitled to [discovery of jury selection notes] at the time of trial." *Jones*, 34 Cal. App. 5th at 79. Because Mr. Jones was entitled to discovery of those notes at the time of trial, he was also entitled to their discovery in post-conviction proceedings pursuant to Penal Code section 1054.9, which authorizes discovery of materials "to which the same defendant would have been entitled at time of trial." Cal. Penal Code § 1054.9 (c).

discovery order. See Jones, 34 Cal. App. 5th at 79 (citing People v. Ayala, 23 Cal. 4th 225, 299 (2000)); see also Williams v. Super. Ct., 3 Cal. 5th 531, 540 (2017) (noting California's statutory scheme "vests trial courts with 'wide discretion' to allow or prohibit discovery" (citing Emerson Electric Co. v. Super. Ct., 16 Cal. 4th 1101, 1107 (1997)); Hill v. Super. Ct., 10 Cal. 3d 812, 816 (1974) ("A motion for discovery . . . is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, which has inherent power to order discovery in the interests of justice.") (citing People v. Terry, 57 Cal. 2d 538, 560-61 (1962); Powell v. Super. Ct., 48 Cal. 2d 704, 708 (1957); Vetter v. Super. Ct., 189 Cal. App. 2d 132, 134 (1961)). Petitioner complains that the Court of Appeal has established a rule likely to lead to confusion and chaos among trial and appellate courts. Request at 3. This dire warning ignores the fact that trial courts are already tasked with determining the proper scope of

Court of Appeal's findings are supported by statutory and decisional law. Petitioner's arguments to the contrary attempt to blur the clear lines of the lower court's decision and ignore the trial court's longstanding and often-exercised authority to fashion discovery orders.

# A. THE LOWER COURT RECOGNIZED THAT BATSON CHALLENGES PRESENT A UNIQUE CIRCUMSTANCE IN WHICH THE PROSECUTOR'S ACTUAL THOUGHTS AND INTENT ARE AT ISSUE.

No other constitutionally-mandated proceeding requires the trial court to delve into the prosecutor's mind to determine his actual thought processes while exercising his peremptory challenges.<sup>17</sup> *Batson* challenges present a unique context in which the trial court is tasked with assessing the credibility of the prosecutor's stated justifications for striking prospective jurors, determining their plausibility, and discerning the actual reasons for the strikes.<sup>18</sup> The lower court recognized the significance of this imperative in its analysis:

discovery in countless cases, including those in which protections against disclosure may be asserted by one or both parties, and appellate courts (including this Court) frequently review the grant or denial of discovery on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Petitioner characterizes the Court of Appeal's decision as one step on a "slippery slope" that may lead to courts granting criminal defendants access to attorney emails, social media accounts, or professional and personal affiliations. Petition at 12 & n. 9. This attempt to draw floodgate-inspired panic from the Court of Appeal's carefully articulated holding ignores the unique inquiry into the prosecutor's mindset required by *Batson*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Miller-El II*, 545 U.S. at 252; *Johnson v. California*, 545 U.S. 162, 171-73 (2005) ("The *Batson* framework is designed to produce actual answers to suspicions and inferences that discrimination may have infected the jury selection process."); *Miller-El I*, 537 U.S. at 338-39; *Batson v*, 476 U.S. at 98 & n.21.

The second step of the *Batson/Wheeler* hearing requires the prosecutor to disclose his or her thinking regarding the prospective jurors by offering race- or gender-neutral justification for exercising the challenged peremptory strikes. Moreover, the purpose of the third step is to evaluate the prosecutor's reasoning.<sup>19</sup>

These unique requirements in the *Batson/Wheeler* context are, the lower court found, "inconsistent with the notion that circumstantial evidence of [the prosecutor's] thoughts is absolutely protected."<sup>20</sup> The Court of Appeal recognized the unique obligation of a trial court during a *Batson* hearing to "evaluate the intent of the prosecution."<sup>21</sup>

Petitioner complains that the lower court misunderstood *Batson* and that nowhere in the *Batson* decision or its progeny<sup>22</sup> is it established "that a state court is mandated or has a sua sponte duty to overrule the prosecution's assertion of core work product privilege over jury selection notes when a defendant asserts a claim of *Batson* error."<sup>23</sup> This description of the issue presented here, however, mischaracterizes the lower court's holding. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Jones, 34 Cal. App. 5th at 82, (citing *Gutierrez*, 2 Cal. 5th at 1158; *Winbush*, 2 Cal. 5th at 434; *Lenix*, 44 Cal. 4th at 612-13).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> *Jones*, 34 Cal. App. 5th at 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Jones, 34 Cal. App. 5th at 81; see also Jones, 34 Cal. App. 5th at 83 (noting "constitutional concerns are at odds with the alleged statutory protections of an attorney's work product").

Petitioner claims the Court of Appeal's decision was based on its belief that *Foster*, 136 S. Ct. 1737, mandated disclosure. Belying petitioner's claim, the Court of Appeal recognized that "*Foster* does not address whether the jury selection notes were protected work product." *Jones*, 34 Cal. App. 5th at 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Petition at 11. *See also* Petition at 8 (incorrectly suggesting that the Court of Appeal believed *Foster* "stand[s] for the proposition that a prosecution claim of core work product privilege is overruled upon a defendant's assertion of *Batson* error").

Court of Appeal found that because *Batson* requires inquiry into the prosecutor's state of mind, and "[g]iven the unique context of the situation and the importance of avoiding discrimination in jury selection," trial courts have discretion to order discovery of jury selection notes.<sup>24</sup> The unique constitutional mandate to determine the prosecutor's actual intent in the context of a *Batson* proceeding – not a belief that this mandate always compels disclosure – formed the basis of the lower court's opinion.

B. THE COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT IDENTIFIES THE PROSECUTOR'S NOTES AS ONE RELEVANT SOURCE OF INFORMATION FOR THE COURT TO CONSIDER IN DECIDING THE MERITS OF A BATSON CHALLENGE.

When conducting the constitutionally-mandated analysis during step three of a *Batson* hearing, a trial court must consider "all relevant circumstances" to determine whether the prosecutor has acted with invidious discrimination.<sup>25</sup> These relevant circumstances should be considered cumulatively by the trial court to create a total picture of the motivations behind the prosecutor's strikes.<sup>26</sup> The Court of Appeal, in issuing its decision echoed the trial court's burden to examine all relevant circumstances:

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